
WARREN COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

COMMITTEE: GASLIGHT VILLAGE AD HOC

DATE: APRIL 12, 2010

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT:

SUPERVISORS KENNY

MONROE

THOMAS

MERLINO

BELDEN

MCCOY

CONOVER

  

OTHERS PRESENT:                                         

PAUL DUSEK, COUNTY ATTORNEY/COMMISSIONER OF ADMINISTRATIVE

& FISCAL SERVICES

JOAN SADY, CLERK OF THE BOARD

KEVIN GERAGHTY, BUDGET OFFICER

SUPERVISORS BENTLEY

CHAMPAGNE

LOEB

MCDEVITT

PITKIN

SOKOL

STEC

STRAINER

TAYLOR

VANNESS

KATE JOHNSON, DIRECTOR, TOURISM DEPARTMENT

WILLIAM LAMY, SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

JEFFERY TENNYSON, DEPUTY SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

HOWARD KRANTZ, LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE VILLAGE OF LAKE GEORGE

LEN FOSBROOK, PRESIDENT, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

PETER BAUER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, FUND FOR LAKE GEORGE

DAVE CEDERSTROM, THE CHRONICLE

TONY HALL, THE LAKE GEORGE MIRROR

DON LEHMAN, THE POST STAR

THOM RANDALL, THE ADIRONDACK JOURNAL

AMANDA ALLEN, SR. LEGISLATIVE OFFICE SPECIALIST

Please see sign-in sheet for additional meeting attendees.

Mr. Kenny called the meeting of the Gaslight Village Ad Hoc Committee to order at 9:30 a.m.

Motion was made by Mr. Belden, seconded by Mr. Merlino and carried unanimously to approve the minutes from

the March 22nd Committee meeting subject to correction by the Clerk of the Board.

Mr. Kenny announced that, as advertised, the meeting would commence in a workshop setting, which meant that

although the public was welcome to observe, they would not be willing to comment or participate in discussions.

He advised that he would allow for public comment at the close of the meeting if there was anyone wishing to

address the Committee.  Mr. Kenny stated the Committee had a very difficult decision to make on the future of the

Cavalcade of Cars and Opera House Buildings and would likely face criticism no matter which option they

supported.  He said once a determination was made by the Committee, it would be forwarded to the full Board for

a final vote to determine the County’s position on whether the buildings should be demolished or retained.  Similar

processes would be undertaken by both the Town and Village of Lake George, Mr. Kenny noted, and hopefully all

three municipalities would reach the same conclusions, as a unanimous decision was required to proceed.  He added

that if a unanimous decision was not reached, concessions might be necessary to remove one of the municipalities

from the project or a litigation process could ensue followed by which a Court would make a decision as to the

direction of the Project.  Mr. Kenny stated that there were a number of issues to consider before deciding on the



GASLIGHT VILLAGE AD HOC                         PAGE  2

APRIL 12, 2010

matter and he proceeded to read a prepared statement outlining the history of the Gaslight Village Project and

studies performed relative to the Cavalcade of Cars and Opera House Buildings located thereon, as well as his

opinions on the future of the two buildings which he felt should be razed; a copy of the statement is on file with the

minutes.

Mr. McCoy apprised that although a Board meeting had not been held to determine the official position of the Town

of Lake George on the matter, he had personally contacted each Board member in order to develop what they felt

was an acceptable compromise.  He then read a prepared statement outlining the position of the Town which

indicated that they would consent to the demolition of the Opera House Building, provided that the Cavalcade of

Cars Building was retained and that the Town was reimbursed for the funds expended for asbestos removal from the

Opera House Building, as well as the maintenance costs associated with the Building over the past three years.  Mr.

McCoy proceeded to read highlights from an article printed in The Lake George Mirror in which Robert Blais, Mayor

for the Village of Lake George, admitted that the Cavalcade of Cars Building “appeared to be in good condition”

and that he was “willing to consider the possibility that at least one building should remain on the property”.  He

also read an email submitted by Dolores Marinelli, resident and small business owner in the Village of Lake George,

supporting the retention of the Cavalcade of Cars Building.  Copies of the statement outlining the Town’s proposal for

compromise, the article from The Lake George Mirror and the email from Mrs. Marinelli are on file with the minutes.

Respective to fears that the Gaslight Village property would not be amenable to future Americade events if the

Cavalcade Building was retained, Mr. McCoy announced that Ralph Macchio, owner of the Wild West Ranch and

Lake George Forum, was willing to offer the use of the Wild West Ranch property, which included 20-acres of flat

usable land, for future Americade events which would keep them in Warren County.  He noted that Mr. Macchio

would be contacting Bill Dutcher, Americade founder and organizer, directly to make this offer.  Mr. McCoy stated

that the Town of Lake George had always maintained that a building should be retained on the Gaslight Village

property, although they had initially anticipated the retention of the Charley’s Saloon Building, which had been

relinquished to demolition as requested by the 3E’s (Environmental Groups - Fund for Lake George, Lake George

Conservancy and the Lake George Association) to support the environmental portion of the West Brook Project.

In trade, he said the Town had accepted the prospective retention of the Opera House and Cavalcade of Cars

Buildings which they felt would help to support the costs of the West Brook Project without burdening the taxpayers

of Warren County.

 

Mr. Conover pointed out that although the public perception was that the decision made by the Board of

Supervisors would dictate the future of the Project, this was an inaccurate assumption as the County, Town and

Village of Lake George were tenants in common for the Gaslight Village property and all decisions had to be agreed

upon unanimously by the three parties.  In response to Mr. Conover’s inquiry as to what would happen if a

unanimous decision was not reached, Mr. Dusek indicated that the Town of Lake George could go to court and seek

an injunction that would prevent demolition from occurring on the property.  Mr. Conover opined that it was very

important to work towards reaching a consensus between the three partners as he felt there would be no other way

to proceed without litigation and he found the prospect of the County and two of its municipalities entering into

a court battle unacceptable.  He then congratulated the Town of Lake George for developing their proposal for

compromise and said he hoped this would lead to reaching an agreement acceptable to all parties as they could not

proceed in any other manner.

Mr. Kenny noted that if an agreement could not be reached, the potential was present for the environmental park

to be completed with the Cavalcade of Cars and Opera House to remain standing in disrepair.  Mr. Conover

responded that the only other option, outside of compromise, seemed to be to potentially remove one of the partners

from the agreement and he was not prepared to vote in favor of expending a large sum of money to accomplish this;



GASLIGHT VILLAGE AD HOC                         PAGE  3

APRIL 12, 2010

therefore, he said, he supported the concept of reaching an agreement acceptable to all parties in order to avoid this

occurrence.

Mr. Thomas cited that taxpayer dollars would be expended regardless of whether they decided to demolish or repair

the Cavalcade Building.  He said he felt that it would be a wiser expenditure to renovate the interior and exterior

of the Cavalcade Building to suit the area, rather than to demolish a perfectly sound building with the prospects of

building another in the future.  Furthermore, Mr. Thomas stated that he felt it was unfair to the Town of Lake

George to demolish both buildings and was not a proper way to treat a partner in the Project.

Mr. Belden stated that although he felt the Opera House Building should definitely be demolished, he agreed with

Mr. Thomas’ statements that the Cavalcade Building should be retained and renovated.  He said he also agreed with

Mr. Conover’s feelings that a lawsuit between the three Municipalities was unacceptable and he felt this was a

reasonable compromise to avoid possible litigation, further noting that if a decision was made to demolish the

building again in the future, municipal monies would have to be determined and used at that time.  Mr. Belden

noted that the only benefit the Town of Hague would receive in connection with the Project was the positive

environmental benefits for the Lake itself; otherwise, he said, he would not have voted in favor of the Gaslight

Village property purchase.

Mr. Merlino said he was agreeable to the compromise cited by the Town of Lake George and said that he felt the

Cavalcade of Cars Building could be a usable venue for events to be held in the area during winter months.  He

noted that if the buildings were removed, all they would be left with was a parking lot, which did not truly pose an

opportunity for increased tourism revenues.  Mr. Merlino opined that the Cavalcade Building should be retained

and occupancy tax funding used to make renovations in order to develop a usable facility with no increased tax

burden to Warren County residents.

Howard Krantz, legal counsel for the Village of Lake George, stated that he was present in Mayor Blais’ absence and

would like to present the Village’s position on the matter.  He noted that this was not a test of wills between the

Village and Town, but rather a different vision for a common goal, adding that the three Municipalities sought to

determine the best uses for the property, but disagreed on how to reach that goal.  With respect to the Town’s

reimbursement request for maintenance and asbestos removal costs, Mr. Krantz asked that the issue be delayed for

discussion in the future, as he felt it was not appropriate to the current discussion.

Mr. Krantz announced that there had been rumors circulating that if the Cavalcade and Opera House Buildings

were removed, new structures could not be built on the Gaslight property in the future due to regulations imposed

by the Adirondack Park Agency (APA), Village zoning laws and the environmental easement.  He advised that

these statements were untrue and cited that the APA had no jurisdiction over the property and that there were no

Village zoning laws or language in the environmental easement that would prohibit future construction for legitimate

Municipal use.  Respective to indications that the Cavalcade Building could be used for winter events, Mr. Krantz

stated that he had worked in the Village of Lake George for the past 40 years and recognized that, other than for

the Winter Carnival, it was not a choice tourist destination.  He added that if a group were seeking an indoor venue

for an event to be held during winter months, it was not likely that the group would choose the Cavalcade of Cars

Building over the much more modern Lake George Forum.  With regard to the use of occupancy tax funds to

rehabilitate the Cavalcade Building, Mr. Krantz stated that although the occupancy tax funds actually came from

area tourism, once it was accepted into the County Budget it became the Board of Supervisor’s responsibility to

spend it wisely, thereby saving taxpayer dollars which would be spent in other areas.  Rumors had been circulating

regarding the County’s inclination to remove themselves from the Gaslight Village Project, Mr. Krantz said, but he

urged County representatives to maintain their involvement as this was a good Project for the area.  He asked the



GASLIGHT VILLAGE AD HOC                         PAGE  4

APRIL 12, 2010

Committee members to remember why they had initially voted in favor of the Project and to see it through to its

conclusion.  Mr. Krantz cited the goal of the Project to be the introduction of a park that would bring both

environmental and economic developments to the area.

Regarding the best uses for the Gaslight Village property, Mr. Krantz stated that Len Fosbrook, President of the

Economic Development Corporation (EDC), had offered to enter into a contract for a study to determine the best

uses, which would be available for review in a few months.  He suggested that a decision on the future of the

Buildings be delayed until the report was provided in order to determine whether the property was best used as

vacant parkland, or if a building was appropriate.  Mr. Krantz added that the report might also be used to determine

whether the existing buildings were of the correct design and condition or if a new structure would be more

appropriate.  He cited that there were three primary events scheduled in the Village of Lake George which brought

considerable tourism revenues to the area, all of which preferred the use of an open-air area without permanent

buildings.  Mr. Krantz noted that any vendors seeking indoor space could use the Lake George Forum, which

provided plenty of parking space.

Mr. Krantz stated that in his experience, renovation costs were never less than anticipated, but always more.  He

said he did not understand why the County would commission outside engineering reports on the condition of the

Cavalcade and Opera House Buildings, then ignore reports that neither building was worth saving.  Mr. Krantz

pointed out that the County had recently completed the construction of the new Human Services Building, rather

than rehabilitating the old Social Services Building, as they realized that the old building was not worth saving; he

added that the same was the case for the Cavalcade and Opera House Buildings.  He said it was also important to

keep in mind that if a building was retained, or a new one constructed, on the Gaslight Village property, there would

be associated maintenance costs and less room for revenue generating parking.  Mr. Krantz stated that if Mr.

Macchio’s proposal to use the Wild West property was accepted, it would move the Americade event from the

center of the Village and off of the Municipally owned property that was purchased to be used for large events such

as this, which was not sensible.

Mr. Krantz advised that if the decision was made to retain the Cavalcade Building, the Village of Lake George would

not contribute any funds to rehabilitation efforts as they felt it was a wasteful prospect.  He added that any

statements indicating that taxpayer dollars would be used for demolition costs were untrue, as State grant funding

had already been promised to support the demolition costs.  Mr. Krantz stated that he did not feel either the County

or the Village had misled the Town in thinking that any buildings on the Gaslight Village property would be

retained, as both parties had adopted resolutions indicating that neither would be contributing funds for renovation

costs.  In conclusion, Mr. Krantz reiterated his suggestion that all parties await the availability of the EDC study

which would reveal the best uses for the property before making any further decisions on building retention.

In confirmation of Mr. Krantz’s earlier statement, Chairman Monroe apprised that the APA had accepted the

property report indicating the absence of wetlands areas on the property, thereby relinquishing any jurisdiction they

might hold.  He said this was a difficult decision for all members of the Board of Supervisors to make and he was not

clear as to the position the majority of the Board held, as many had changed their views over the course of the

Project as new issues came to light.  However, Chairman Monroe stated, it was clear that the majority would not

agree to spend substantial funds for any part of the Project.  He concluded that the County needed to determine

and clearly voice their position on the building retention/demolition issue so that an overall decision could be made

on the matter by the three municipalities in order to move forward.

Mr. Dusek commented that although Mr. Krantz had been correct in his statements that there were no written



GASLIGHT VILLAGE AD HOC                         PAGE  5

APRIL 12, 2010

regulations preventing new construction on the Gaslight Village property in the future, there were other

requirements, such as the SEQRA (State Environmental Quality Review Act) process, which could preclude future

construction.  Therefore, he said, it was important to review all of these possibilities before making a decision.

Speaking as Chairman of the Tourism Committee, Mr. Merlino apprised that the EDC had been authorized to

proceed with a tourism study as to the best uses for the Gaslight Village property.  He said that he was inclined to

agree with suggestions in favor of delaying a final decision until the reports were returned and reviewed.  Mr.

Conover noted that while awaiting the return of the EDC report, it might be appropriate to move forward with the

necessary steps to approve the demolition of the Opera House Building. 

In response to a question as to when the EDC study would be available, Mr. Fosbrook advised that the study was

scheduled to begin on that day and would take 12 to 14 weeks to complete.  Mr. Merlino asked if the deadline for

the grant funding associated with demolition costs could be delayed in concurrence with the receipt of the EDC

report and Peter Bauer, Executive Director of the Fund for Lake George, replied in the negative, noting that a delay

in the grant agreement would cause severe delays in the demolition and construction facets of the Project.

Subsequent to extensive discussion on the issue, motion was made by Mr. Conover, seconded by Mr. McCoy and

carried unanimously to approve the demolition of the Opera House Building and defer a decision on the Cavalcade

of Cars Building until the EDC report was received and reviewed, subject to concurring resolutions by the Town

and Village of Lake George, and the necessary resolution was authorized for the April 16th Board meeting. 

Mr. McDevitt stated his opinion that the issue had been ongoing for far too long and that the County needed to take

action at the upcoming Board meeting to formally state their position in order to forward the Project.  He added that

delaying a decision while awaiting further reports appeared to be a delay tactic.  Mr. Champagne countered that

although he was not typically in favor of delaying issues, he tended to agree with Mr. Conover’s statements and felt

that delaying the issue to reach a consensus amongst the three municipalities was favorable if it would avoid

litigation issues.  He added that his position on the subject had wavered over the life of the Gaslight Village Project

and if he were asked to vote on the topic now, he would be forced to abstain as he could not make a conscionable

decision without further consideration and discussion in order to reach a conclusion favorable to all parties.

William Lamy, Superintendent of Public Works, clarified that the engineering reports prepared for the County did

not include a recommendation as to whether the Cavalcade of Cars or Opera House Buildings should be retained

or demolished,  nor had such recommendation been provided by himself or other Public Works staff; he added that

the engineering reports simply provided a menu of repairs and associated costs.

When provided with the opportunity for public comment, Mr. Dutcher advised that although he did not have a

position on the matter, he urged the Committee to make a decision in order to proceed with the Project as many

event coordinators started planning their events at least a year in advance and might shy away from a location whose

future was unknown.

As there was no further business to come before the Gaslight Village Ad Hoc Committee, on motion made by Mr.

Merlino and seconded by Mr. Belden, Mr. Kenny adjourned the meeting at 11:14 a.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Amanda Allen, Sr. Legislative Office Specialist
























